## Guidance Framework to Support Healthier Food Retail Environments for Children

A practical tool for nutrition and children's rights in the food retail sector







INSTITUTE FOR HEALTH TRANSFORMATION



Suggested citation: United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). *Guidance Framework to Support Healthier Food Retail Environments for Children: A practical tool for nutrition and children's rights in the food retail sector,* UNICEF, New York, 2023.

© United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF)

June 2023

Permission is required to reproduce any part of this publication. Permissions will be freely granted to educational or non-profit organizations.

United Nations Children's Fund Nutrition and Child Development Section, Programme Group 3 United Nations Plaza New York, NY 10017 USA

Email: nutrition@unicef.org www.unicef.org/nutrition

Photography credits: Cover: AdobeStock; page 8: © UNICEF/UN0220586/Volpe; page 16: © UNICEF/UNI209810/Karimova; page 25: © UNICEF; page 30: © Adobestock/ Seventyfour.

## Guidance Framework to Support Healthier Food Retail Environments for Children

A practical tool for nutrition and children's rights in the food retail sector







## **Acknowledgements**

This publication was developed as part of the Network on Children's Rights and Nutrition in the Food Retail Sector. The Network was established in 2021 by Norges Bank Investment Management (NBIM) and UNICEF. The document results from a collaboration between the Nutrition and Child Development Section at UNICEF Programme Group in New York and Deakin University.

**Lead Authors:** Gary Sacks (Deakin University), Jo Jewell (UNICEF) and D'Arcy Williams (UNICEF).

**Other Authors:** Jasmine Chan (Deakin University), Ella Robinson (Deakin University) and Adrian Cameron (Deakin University)

**Technical Reviewers:** Anna Taylor (The Food Foundation), Caroline Cerny (Bite Back 2030), Knut Ivar Karevold (Institutt for Klimapsykologi AS), Camilla Øksenvåg (Norwegian Public Health Association), Jon Kirknes (Norwegian Cancer Association), Aysha Grönberg (Norwegian Consumer Council), Kaja Lund-Iversen (Norwegian Institute of Public Health), Javad Mushtaq (EAT Foundation), Nadine Nasser (Access to Nutrition), Martina Asquini (Access to Nutrition), Marina Plyta (Access to Nutrition), Lily Roberts (ShareAction), Katherine Shats (UNICEF) and Christopher Kip (UNICEF).

The publication benefited greatly from the contribution of food retail companies themselves who provided input in writing and verbally during workshops between 2021 and 2022 as well as bilaterally on subsequent drafts in 2022 and 2023. These companies include: ALDI Nord, Shoprite Holdings Ltd, Kesko Corporation, Koninklijke Ahold Delhaize NV, Woolworths Group, SEVEN & i HLDGS. Co., Ltd., Migros Ticaret AS (Türkiye), Tesco PLC, J Sainsbury PLC and the Kroger Co.

With special thanks to Kyrre Lind (UNICEF Norway), Skage Steinsson Lem (UNICEF Norway), Mille Bugge (NBIM) and Caroline Eriksen (NBIM) for their coordination throughout this process. Additional thanks to Samantha Nesrallah (EAT Foundation), Kevin Kapeke (VicHealth), Dheepa Jeyapalan (VicHealth), Sarah Zahr (UNICEF), Zoe McIntyre (Food Foundation), Joe Twilley (Bite Back 2030), and the +50 young people for their contributions to the youth consultations that also fed into this publication.

Design: Nona Reuter

Editing: Julia D'Aloisio

## Contents

1.	Introduction	6	
2.	Background	7	
3.	The business case for addressing unhealthy diets and obesity	11	
	3.1 Regulatory risks and opportunities	11	
	3.2 Reputational considerations	11	
	3.3 Potential profitability of actions to promote healthy food	11	
	3.4 Young people want healthy food retail environments	12	
	3.5 Environmental and sustainable development considerations	13	
4.	Nutrition is becoming a material issue for investors	14	
5.	Recommended actions that food retailers can take to support healthy diets	45	
	among children and families	15	
	A. Corporate strategy	18	
	B. Product development and labelling	19	
	C. Product availability and placement	21	
	D. Promotional activities	22	
6. Current food retailer actions to promote healthy eating			
7.	7. Conclusion		
	References	31	

## 01 Introduction

• Food retailers have a critical role to play in efforts to improve population diets. Globally, the business practices of food retailers have an important impact on what children and families eat and the healthiness of their diets. There is a tremendous opportunity for food retailers to influence the availability and affordability of food and the way it is marketed such that good health and well-being are actively promoted.

Currently, unhealthy diets and malnutrition in all its forms substantially contribute to the global burden of disease. In particular, childhood overweight and obesity rates are increasing around the world, with substantial negative impacts for individuals and society, both immediately and in the long run. A key driver of children's unhealthy diets is that they are growing up in environments in which unhealthy foods are more readily available and heavily marketed than ever before. As part of a comprehensive approach to protecting children's rights to good nutrition and health, improvements to the healthiness of food environments<sup>i</sup> are essential.

While governments are the primary duty-bearers for the fulfilment of child rights,<sup>ii</sup> businesses have a responsibility to respect and support children's rights and avoid harm through their products and practices.<sup>1</sup> Businesses also have an important role to play in contributing to the attainment of the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).<sup>2</sup>

Stronger and more effective actions from food retailers are needed to positively influence the diets of children and families and respond to growing regulatory, reputational and financial risks. There are a wide range of evidence-based actions that food retailers can take to improve population nutrition. Effective and timely action can also create substantial business opportunities related to nutrition and health.

The **aim of this document** is to provide practical guidance for the food retail sector and investors on effective steps that food retailers can take to create healthy food retail environments and contribute to improved business practices that support good nutrition among children and families.<sup>iii</sup>

#### The primary focus is on supermarkets, but many aspects of the guidance provided in the document are likely to be relevant to other businesses in the food value

chain, including restaurants and food

manufacturers.

This Guidance Framework is the output of the UNICEF-NBIM Network on Children's Rights and Nutrition in the Food Retail Sector that was active between March 2021 and March 2023, involving an extensive review of the academic and grey literature and a detailed consultation with large food retailers from multiple regions, academic experts and non-government organizations focused on activities to improve population health. A separate Network Report has also been published alongside this Guidance Framework, in addition to an Evidence Review.

i Food environments are defined as the "physical, economic, political and sociocultural context in which consumers engage with the food system to make their decisions about acquiring, preparing and consuming food." High Level Panel of Experts, 2017. Nutrition and food systems. A report by the High-Level Panel of Experts on Food Security and Nutrition of the Committee on World Food Security, Rome. Available at: https://www.fao.org/3/i7846e/i7846e.pdf (pg 11).

ii For the purposes of this document, children are defined as people under the age of 18, in line with the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child.

iii In developing this guidance framework for a global audience, it is recognized that regulations vary across markets, and the actions and metrics that are proposed in the document may be regulated in some markets. Stakeholders should consider the concepts and ideas presented in the document with reference to the market regulations that apply.

## 02 Background

#### Unhealthy diets and malnutrition in all its forms are the leading cause of death and disability worldwide. In 2017,

dietary risk factors were associated with 22 per cent of all premature deaths globally.<sup>3</sup> Unhealthy diets are the primary driver of overweight and obesity and related noncommunicable diseases (NCDs), the rates of which have almost tripled since 1975.<sup>4</sup> Of particular concern is the growing prevalence of overweight and obesity among children and adolescents, which has risen from 4 per cent in 1975 to 18 per cent of all children and adolescents globally in 2016.<sup>5</sup>

Childhood overweight and obesity are no longer just a concern in high-income countries; rates are also increasing rapidly in low- and middle-income countries.<sup>5</sup> Many of these countries are now facing a 'triple burden' of undernutrition, micronutrient deficiencies, and overweight and obesity.<sup>6</sup> Children are particularly exposed to this 'triple burden', with inadequate nutrition in infancy and early childhood coexisting with diets high in fat, sugar and salt and low in nutrients.<sup>7</sup> In particular, in addition to being at high risk of developing serious NCDs later in life, children living with overweight and obesity can experience weightrelated stigma that can be damaging to their self-esteem and mental wellbeing.<sup>8</sup> The impact of unhealthy diets and the triple burden of malnutrition has an enormous economic impact, estimated at up to US\$3.5 trillion a year.9

A main driver of unhealthy diets and the triple burden of malnutrition is unhealthy food environments that are dominated by the supply, distribution and marketing of ultraprocessed foods (including products such as sugary drinks, confectionery, chocolates, cakes and biscuits) that are high in free sugars, sodium, harmful fats and/or energy.<sup>10</sup> Actions from government, the food industry, and broader society are required as part of a comprehensive response to improving the healthiness of food environments, children's nutrition and population health.<sup>11</sup> For investors, addressing the healthiness of food environments can mitigate financial risks and enhance long-term shareholder value through positive environmental, social and economic outcomes.<sup>12</sup>

Children's diets are impacted by the practices of the food industry, including food producers, food manufacturers and food retailers (Figure 1). Increasing urbanization and globalization has led to a rapid shift away from traditional food sources, such as fresh food markets, and towards modern food retail environments, which are dominated by food retail chains.13 In highincome countries, and increasingly in low- and middle-income countries, people buy the majority of their food from large food retailers or smaller retailers owned by larger chains.14



**Figure 1**: Factors affecting the healthiness of food retail environments, and their importance for nutrition, adapted from Peeters et al.<sup>20</sup>

As such, the types of foods available, their prices and affordability, and the way they are promoted, have a direct and substantial impact on what people choose to buy and on the healthiness of their diets.<sup>15</sup>

Food retail environments, including digital food retail environments, also shape the social norms with in which children grow up. Food marketing in food retail settings, including in-store and online, often targets children directly, for example, using cartoon and animated characters, celebrities, prizes and games. Critically, children are typically exposed to many of the same food environments as adults and are influenced by the same marketing strategies used by food retailers, even if these are not directly targeted to them.

Importantly, parents and caregivers make purchasing decisions on behalf of children and are influenced by the marketing practices used within food retail environments.<sup>16</sup> For example, marketing of infant formula and infant foods targets caregivers but has a direct impact on children. A number of governments have implemented regulations designed to improve population diets, including legislation targeting marketing and pricing practices of food retailers (**Box 1**). Such government leadership is critical in setting a regulatory environment that promotes health.

At the same time, there is a responsibility and substantial opportunity for food retailers to take stronger and more effective steps to protect children's rights to good nutrition and health (Box 2). First and foremost, food retailers should comply with existing laws that protect and uphold these rights. In addition, food retailers should not oppose or lobby against proposed regulations intended to protect children's rights and promote population health. For food retailers to support children's rights, their policies and practices should both protect children and ensure they do not appeal to caregivers in a way that can have a harmful impact on children.

Positive food retailer actions in the area of children's rights to good nutrition and health can contribute to meeting expectations under the United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights (UNGPs) and the Child Rights and Business Principles, while addressing broader sustainability considerations under emerging environmental, social and governance (ESG) frameworks.<sup>17</sup> Several retailers have demonstrated global leadership by taking steps towards these principles and goals in their strategies and ambitions.18, 19

By collaborating with other businesses that are part of food systems, including food producers and food manufacturers, food retailers can play an important role in improving population health.



### **BOX 1 Regulatory action to create healthier food environments**

The Committee on the Rights of the Child states that governments "must take all necessary, appropriate and reasonable measures to prevent business enterprises from causing or contributing to abuses of children's rights. Such measures can encompass the passing of law and regulation...".<sup>21</sup> There is also increasing evidence that there is only so far businesses can move within the regulatory structures and profit incentives under which they currently operate, and that industry self-regulation has not been effective in radically changing business practices.<sup>22,23,24</sup> In fact, recent evidence shows that self-regulation can do more harm than good by interfering with government regulation.<sup>25</sup> As such, governments are increasingly regulating to improve the healthiness of food environments, including by taxing unhealthy foods and beverages, restricting marketing to children, implementing nutrition labelling, public procurement, school food policies, and restricting promotion and placement of unhealthy products in-store. Rather than opposing regulatory changes, businesses can anticipate and support regulation, while adapting their practices.

- 1. Taxes on sugar-sweetened beverages: More than 50 countries have now introduced some type of tax on sugar-sweetened beverages.<sup>26</sup> Such taxes directly influence consumer demand, which can have important revenue impacts for food retailers. In addition, depending on the tax structure, such taxes can provide impetus to reformulate products to reduce their sugar content.
- 2. Food labelling regulations and restrictions on children's exposure to unhealthy food marketing: A range of governments have mandatory food labelling regulations in place, and several governments have recently legislated to restrict children's exposure to the marketing of unhealthy food.<sup>27</sup> A leading example of comprehensive policy action in this area is Chile, where the government introduced a suite of policy measures to protect children from unhealthy food

marketing, including mandatory front-of-pack warning labels on foods high in fat, salt and sugar; restrictions on marketing to children; and bans on the sale of foods and beverages high in fat, salt and sugar in schools.<sup>28</sup>

- **3. Restrictions on placement and promotion of unhealthy food in stores:** In 2022, the Government of the United Kingdom implemented restrictions on the placement of unhealthy foods and beverages in prominent places (e.g., checkouts) in supermarkets. Additional restrictions on price promotions of unhealthy foods (e.g., 'buy-oneget-one-free' specials) have also been proposed.
- **4. Restrictions on product sales to children:** Numerous countries have implemented regulations on the sale of energy drinks to minors.<sup>29,30</sup> The Governments of Latvia, Lithuania and Türkiye have mandated a ban on the sale of energy drinks to persons under the age of 18, while the United Kingdom and the United Arab Emirates have banned sales to under-16-year-olds. In Latvia, supermarkets are also required to display energy drinks separate from other food items, while in Sweden, sales of some energy drink products are restricted to pharmacies. The southern Mexican state of Oaxaca has banned the sale of sugary drinks and high-calorie snack foods to children under age 18, and other Mexican states are considering similar policies.<sup>31</sup>
- Limits on content of risk nutrients: Countries such as Argentina and South Africa have introduced mandatory limits on sodium content in certain food categories.<sup>32,33</sup>
- 6. Mandatory business reporting requirements: In 2022, the European Union adopted new mandatory reporting requirements for all large companies to disclose and audit data on the impact of their activities on people and planet and any sustainability risks they are exposed to.<sup>34</sup> In 2021, the National Food Strategy for England recommended mandatory reporting on unhealthy and healthy sales-based metrics for all large food businesses.<sup>35</sup>



### **X** BOX 2 **A human rights approach to food retailer action on nutrition**

The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child recognizes that all children up to 18 years of age are entitled to inalienable rights – inherent to human dignity – including the right to healthy food and adequate nutrition.<sup>36</sup>

Unhealthy diets can be viewed as resulting from the failure to protect essential human rights, due largely to insufficient action, governance and accountability.<sup>37</sup> A rights-based approach to improving children's food environments and nutrition focuses on ensuring that all population groups, including marginalized and vulnerable populations, have equitable access to environments that promote consumption of healthy diets.

The United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights (UNGPs) provide guidance for addressing and preventing human rights impacts associated with business activity.<sup>38</sup> The UNGPs hold that companies have a responsibility to acknowledge their role in upholding and protecting human rights. Furthermore, the UNGPs state that businesses must act with due diligence to avoid infringing on the rights of others and to address any negative impacts. In conducting due diligence, the UNGPs encourage companies to conduct a Human Rights Impact Assessment through which they assess their actual and potential human rights impacts.

The United Nations Guiding Principles Reporting Framework provides details on how companies can meaningfully report on their progress in implementing their responsibility to respect human rights. The Children's Rights and Business Principles, which build on the UNGPs, articulate the specific responsibility for businesses to respect and opportunity to support children's rights, including through product formulation and responsible marketing practices.<sup>39</sup>

Critically, the obligation of States to uphold children's rights has been interpreted to require strong action in the area of food and nutrition, and with respect to the food industry specifically. Key examples include:

- General comment No. 16 on the Convention on the Rights of the Child, which states that "States must take all necessary, appropriate and reasonable measures to prevent business enterprises from causing or contributing to abuses of children's rights. Such measures can encompass the passing of law and regulation..."<sup>40</sup>
- The comments of the Special Rapporteur on the Right to Food 2016: "Recognizing that industry self-regulation is ineffective, Governments should impose strong regulatory systems to ensure that the food industry does not violate citizens' human rights to adequate food and nutrition. It is recognised, however, that such efforts may face formidable resistance from a food industry seeking to protect its economic interests." <sup>41</sup>
- The recommendations of the Special Rapporteur on the Right to Health: *"The responsibility to protect the enjoyment of the right to health warrants State intervention in situations when third parties, such as food companies, use their position to influence dietary habits by directly or indirectly encouraging unhealthy diets, which negatively affect people's health."*<sup>42</sup>



# The business case for addressing unhealthy diets and obesity

• Companies have a responsibility to avoid harm through their products and practices and to respect

children's rights. They also have an important role to play in contributing to the attainment of the SDGs. Factors such as the changing regulatory environment, increasing public scrutiny, and shifting consumer demand for nutritious and sustainable foods are bringing added incentives for business practices to evolve towards healthier food retail environments. With this strong business case, there is a major opportunity for food retailers to make meaningful commitments and take strong actions to ensure that their business decisions contribute to children's rights to nutrition and health.

## **3.1 Regulatory risks and opportunities**

In response to the social and economic threats posed by unhealthy diets and obesity, governments around the world are taking regulatory action to create healthier food environments (refer to **Box 1**).

Large-scale regulatory changes are highly effective in changing corporate practices. International bodies, such as the World Health Organization (WHO), recommend a number of regulatory approaches that governments can use to support healthy diets in childhood, including mandatory sugar-sweetened beverage taxation, restrictions on the exposure of children to the marketing of unhealthy foods, and interpretive food labelling.<sup>43</sup> These regulatory approaches are cost-effective and have widespread population health benefits.

Regulation can also serve as an opportunity for food retailers by providing clear guidance and creating a 'level playing field'.<sup>44</sup> For example, when strong nutritionrelated regulations are implemented, companies that have already invested resources in healthier foods are likely to have a competitive advantage.

However, regulatory changes can also represent substantial risks to companies. Regulation to improve population diets has the potential to pose financial risks to the food industry where companies are not 'ahead of the curve' and well prepared to respond to regulatory changes.<sup>45,46</sup> For example, companies that have already shifted their product portfolio and marketing practices to focus on healthier foods are likely to adjust more easily to regulations in these areas. A 2017 report released by Schroders and Rathbone Greenbank Investments outlined expectations for companies that rely heavily on revenue from unhealthy products, particularly those high in sugar.47 The report estimated a negative impact on earnings associated with changing regulations on sugar and consumer preferences between -3 and -25 per cent per share. There is therefore a strong business case

for food retailers to be prepared and incorporate such 'transition risk' into their risk management.

#### **3.2 Reputational considerations**

Food retailer actions to improve nutrition can also have a positive impact on brand reputation, which can attract further customers and employees to the company. Many businesses recognize the benefits of responsible business practices that foster positive relationships with society.48 Public health and consumer advocacy groups are increasingly highlighting the practices of the food industry, while negative stories centred on supermarkets are frequently covered by the media.<sup>49,50,51</sup> There is also increased public and government pressure on food retailers to act in a socially responsible way.<sup>52</sup> Accordingly, food retailers may also face reputational risks associated with not supporting healthy diets. In particular, lobbying against public health regulations not only puts children's rights to nutrition and health at risk, but can also damage food retailers' reputations. These reputational risks are likely to be amplified by the public's familiarity with supermarkets and their branding.

## **3.3 Potential profitability of actions to promote healthy food**

Consumer attitudes towards healthier and more environmentally sustainable products are becoming increasingly positive. The market for healthy, ethical and environmentally sustainable products is rapidly growing, and many food retailers are responding to this by capitalizing on 'healthier' product investment.<sup>53,54,55</sup>

Evidence suggests that food retail actions that promote health can be profitable and are perceived as beneficial to retailers and customers.<sup>56,57</sup> For example, refurbishing store layouts to highlight healthier products, such as fresh fruit and vegetables, can help increase desirability of those products, increase foot traffic into the store, and increase overall sales.<sup>58</sup> In some countries, food retailers have substantially increased the size and prominence of the fresh food area over time, including positioning such areas near the entrance of the store.<sup>59</sup> Techniques such as promotional discounts, shelf displays and labelling, can also benefit both population health and food retailer profits if these are directed towards healthier products.<sup>60</sup>

## **3.4 Young people want healthy food retail environments**

Consumers are increasingly demanding that food companies support them in making healthier choices. For example, a recent multi-country survey conducted by ShareAction found that the vast majority of consumers believe that food companies play an important role in influencing their dietary choices; they want food companies to reformulate unhealthy foods to make them more healthy and to produce healthy alternatives to less healthy foods.<sup>61</sup>

In 2021 and 2022, UNICEF coordinated a youth consultation initiative to engage young people about their experiences of food retail environments (refer to **Box 3**). As the consumers of today and tomorrow, young people said that they wanted food retailers to provide healthy, affordable and sustainable options, while ensuring that products are clearly labelled, accessible and marketed in a way that makes healthy foods appealing.

### BOX 3

#### Youth consultations on healthier food retail environments

In 2021 and 2022, UNICEF, in partnership with EAT Foundation, the Food Foundation, Bite Back 2030 and VicHealth, co-ordinated three youth consultations across Europe and Australia. Harnessing the interactive CO-CREATE Dialogue Tool,<sup>62</sup> the consultations aimed to gain a better understanding of young people's experiences in food retail environments and ideas for shaping them to be healthier, affordable and more sustainable. The consultations involved 50 youth, aged 16–23 years, with representation across gender, cultural and indigenous groups. Discussions centred around aspects of the four 'P's' of marketing – product, price, placement and promotion.

These consultations found that young people want food retail environments to support healthy and affordable options. **Specifically, the young people consulted want:** 

#### Healthy and affordable food that does not compromise on taste:

→ Greater variety of healthy, affordable foods, portion-controlled products and less processed foods

#### Sustainable, ethical and culturally appropriate options:

→ Locally-sourced, fairtrade, less plastic and packaging, in-season and access to foods from different cultures

#### More information, less temptation:

Clearer and more transparent labelling to distinguish between processed and unprocessed foods and support to make healthy choices

#### Marketing, but for good:

- → Less promotion of unhealthy, processed foods
- More promotion of fresh foods

## **3.5 Environmental and sustainable development considerations**

Food systems are one of the most significant drivers of climate change, biodiversity loss, water and land use.63 The health and environmental sustainability of food systems and diets are highly interconnected: improving nutrition can have substantial benefits on environmental sustainability, and actions to improve the environmental sustainability of food environments are likely to positively impact population health.<sup>64,65</sup> This can at the same time respond to increasing consumer awareness and governmental requirements around climate change.

While actions taken to address environmental sustainability generally align with efforts to improve population nutrition, there are some areas in which there are potential trade-offs. For example, retailer actions targeted at reducing red meat purchases may inadvertently lead to higher consumption of unhealthy ultraprocessed 'plant-based' meat alternatives.<sup>66</sup> In these instances, retailer actions can likely be tailored to promote both healthy and environmentally sustainable options, for example, through the promotion of minimally processed plantbased alternatives (such as beans, legumes, lentils) rather than plantbased meat analogues.

Actions aimed at improving the healthiness of food environments also present food retailers with an opportunity to align responsible business practices with international action on sustainable development. Engaging in healthy food retail initiatives can form an important component of food retailers' actions and reporting, which contribute towards achieving the SDG targets.<sup>67</sup> Furthermore, companies that contribute to the healthiness of food retail environments can support UNICEF's goals of upholding children's rights to good nutrition and health<sup>68</sup> (refer to **Box 2**) and the World Health Assembly global nutrition target to halt the rise in obesity among children by 2025.69





# Nutrition is becoming a material issue for investors

Nutrition has become an increasingly important environmental, social and governance (ESG) issue for institutional investors.<sup>70</sup> In particular, material risks related to litigation, regulation and changing consumer preferences can negatively impact food company profitability, brand value and market share.<sup>71</sup> The burden of diet-related diseases also substantially impacts economic growth, for example through productivity losses and reduced gross domestic product, which can impact potential future earnings for companies and investors.72

In response to these risks, investors are increasingly including nutrition as part of their investment analyses. Some investors are starting to report on how they consider nutrition issues within their analyses, and some are engaging with companies to improve nutrition-related practices, such as marketing of unhealthy food to children.<sup>73 74,75</sup>

Investors are also calling for greater transparency from companies on nutrition-related issues.<sup>76</sup> For example, NBIM has established expectations for companies on children's rights that recognize that companies can positively or negatively impact children through their marketing practices and food offerings.<sup>77</sup> NBIM has an expectation that company policies include measures for identification, prevention, mitigation and remediation of adverse children's rights impacts in their direct operations and value chain, as well as from products, services and marketing.

Investors are also increasingly expecting food companies to provide detailed information about their sales of healthy versus unhealthy foods.<sup>78</sup> In some cases, shareholders have filed nutrition-related motions at company Annual General Meetings, giving exposure to these asks to other investors.

A number of coalitions aim to bring investors together to collectively address nutrition issues and improve food industry practices. Recent examples include:

 In 2020, the Access to Nutrition Initiative (ATNI) released the 'Investor Expectations on Nutrition, Diets and Health', which outlines four key areas for investors to engage with food companies to address nutrition challenges and deliver the SDGs.<sup>79</sup> More than 80 institutional investors representing US\$19.7 trillion in assets under management have signed this document.

- In 2021, in the United Kingdom, Rathbone Greenbank Investments led a coalition of investors representing £2.8 trillion in assets (alongside ShareAction and the Food Foundation), urging the Government to demonstrate leadership and ambition in its response to the National Food Strategy's recommendations for promoting a healthy and sustainable food system.<sup>80</sup>
- Also in 2021, a group of shareholders called on Tesco to disclose the proportion of food and beverage sales that are generated from healthier products. In March 2021, Tesco announced new commitments to support healthy and sustainable diets, including targets to increase the sale of healthier foods by providing a greater range of healthier products and nutritional information on labelling.<sup>81</sup>

05

## **Recommended actions that food retailers** can take to support healthy diets among children and families

• There are a range of evidencebased actions that food retailers can take to improve the healthiness of retail food environments, ensure children's rights to good nutrition and health, and positively impact the diets of children and families.

These actions can be broadly categorized under four areas (each detailed, in turn, in the sections that follow):

- a. 'Corporate strategy', including actions related to: overarching company strategies and goals related to nutrition and health; actively supporting relevant public health-related government interventions; and avoiding lobbying against public health regulations to address unhealthy diets
- b. 'Product development and labelling', including actions related to: reformulation of existing own-brand products; introduction of new healthier ownbrand products; implementation of easy-to-understand food labelling on own-brand products; and working with suppliers of branded products to encourage similar actions related to product formulation and labelling

#### c. 'Product availability and placement', including actions related to: availability and stocking products, allocation of floor and shelf space, placement of products in prominent areas (checkouts, end-of-aisle displays and/or online equivalents),

distribution of healthy products d. 'Promotional activities',

and affordable and equitable

including actions related to: pricing strategies, promotions in catalogues/circulars, in-store / online signage, images or branding that appeal to children, and other promotional actions (such as loyalty rewards and mobile apps)

In developing and implementing their nutrition-related policies, actions and associated reporting, food retailers should adhere to principles of best practice, including ensuring that actions and reporting are transparent, accountable, coherent and linked with public health priorities (**Box 4**). Additionally, the evidence-base for what is considered 'healthy' should always be guided by relevant government regulations and guidelines or global guidance (e.g., WHO Nutrient Profile Models) (see **Box 5**). Meaningful action to improve the healthiness of retail food environments is likely to be facilitated by collaboration and cooperation across the sector, supported by government leadership and regulation. Food retailers can actively participate in industry forums to advocate for increased evidencebased action on nutrition and health. Food retailers can also publicly support government interventions that create a level playing field on nutrition-related issues, including by sharing data and evidence about what is working, and collaborating with government officials to ensure policies are as strong as possible from a public health perspective. In some cases, such as regarding restrictions on price promotions for unhealthy foods, mandatory government regulation is likely to be needed to remove commercial barriers.<sup>82</sup> Recognition and rewards for retailer leadership may also prove helpful and provide a means for sharing best practice.

Globally, coherent and comprehensive action will require multinational collaboration, including important roles for WHO, UNICEF and other United Nations agencies in driving consistent adoption of best practice.

## **Principles of best practice guiding food retailer actions on nutrition**

**Transparent:** Publicly report and disclose commitments, policies and performance (e.g., as part of sustainability reporting and/or other company policy documents in the public domain).

**Accountable:** Regularly (e.g., annually) report performance against commitments and targets, including comparisons over time, with independent verification.

**Coherent:** Ensure actions are coherent across all aspects of the company (including nutrition, marketing, finance, and operations), and based on a consistent classification of the healthiness of different foods (also refer to **Box 5**).

#### Linked with public health priorities:

Address priorities for population health and nutrition, based on reliable scientific evidence, in line with global public health recommendations.

*Aligned:* Use standardized, meaningful metrics that are aligned with existing sustainability reporting standards (such as Global Reporting Initiative and International Sustainability Standards Board), civil society-led benchmarking initiatives (such as ATNI, World Benchmarking Alliance and ShareAction), and relevant government policies and initiatives. **Comprehensive and specific:** Include SMART (specific, measurable, achievable, relevant and time-bound) goals and explicit comparisons with relevant government guidelines and targets (e.g., WHO sodium benchmarks, national reformulation targets).

*Locally relevant:* Tailor actions to the local context. Where multinational retailers have existing global nutrition-related commitments or targets, these can be strengthened by ensuring they are specific to the countries in which they operate.





## **Considerations in defining healthy and unhealthy foods**

- WHO defines a healthy diet as essential for good health and nutrition and comprising a variety of different foods, including legumes, fruits and vegetables, cereals (wheat, rice, rye) and starchy tubers or roots (potato, yam), with some animal-source foods (meat, fish, eggs and milk).<sup>83</sup>
- There are a variety of ways to classify the 'healthfulness' of foods. Most classification schemes classify foods based on the food category (e.g., fruit and vegetables, confectionery, soft drinks) and/or their nutrient content (e.g., sodium, saturated fat, free sugars and/or fibre content).
- It is important that food retailers adopt externally recognized, evidence-based definitions of healthy and unhealthy foods and beverages. National food-based dietary guidelines, as well as food classification schemes (including Nutrient Profiling Models) adopted by the government, are useful guides. Where a government has adopted a national food classification scheme, food retailers should use this scheme to ensure consumers receive consistent messaging. In the absence of national systems, WHO has a range of region-specific nutrient profiling systems that can be applied.<sup>84</sup>
- Reformulating products to contain fewer harmful nutrients is important. For example, reducing salt content in products can help reduce heart disease risk. However, it is critical that reformulation efforts do not replace one risk nutrient with another (e.g., replacing saturated fat with sugar). In addition, reformulation to include addition of positive ingredients, such as vegetables and whole grains, both of which support healthful diets and NCD reduction, is likely to be beneficial.
- Food retailers have great potential to act as leaders in promoting healthy diets. Where retailers adopt evidence-based definitions of 'healthy foods', such as those established by governments as part of government-endorsed Nutrient Profiling Models,<sup>85</sup> these definitions can be applied in relation to their product portfolios and distribution activities, their labelling and marketing practices, and as part of managing their relationships with other organizations, such as in guiding food manufacturers to take steps towards improving population nutrition.

#### What about level of processing?

In the last decade, evidence has revealed that the degree of processing also influences the health profile of food products.<sup>86</sup> While processing has been beneficial to human diets for millennia, the food supply has recently become 'ultra-processed' (e.g., extracting minimally processed ingredients and inserting additives such as artificial colours or preservatives). These products are usually made in factories by food manufacturers and contain a multitude of ingredients – most of which cannot be found in everyday kitchens. There is increasing evidence of serious health risks associated with high levels of consumption of ultraprocessed foods, including obesity, type 2 diabetes, depression and heart disease.<sup>87</sup> Food retailers can focus on promoting minimally processed and fresh foods, and ensuring that packaged foods are made with as few processed ingredients and additives as possible, while balancing food safety and shelf stability considerations.

#### Taking into account environmental sustainability

It is imperative that healthy diets are sourced from environmentally sustainable food systems, including the way in which food and food products are grown, processed, manufactured, packaged and distributed. There is generally strong overlap between products that are healthy and those that are more environmentally sustainable. For example, when consumed in high amounts, processed red meat is associated with harmful health outcomes – such as colorectal cancer, cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes.<sup>88</sup> The production of processed red meat is also associated with high levels of environmental damage. Food retailers should consider supplying red meat from certified sustainable producers, as well as aiming to promote other healthy, minimally processed sources of protein, such as legumes.



#### A. Corporate strategy

Recommended actions for food retailers	Suggested metrics for monitoring and reporting	International examples of leading practice	
<ul> <li>A1. Explicitly incorporate nutrition and health as a core part of cor- porate strategy</li> <li>A2. Ensure accountability for nutrition</li> </ul>	• Mention of nutrition and health as part of mission statement and/ or strategic vision, with reference to global and national population	• Tesco (United Kingdom) outlined (in 2021–2022) a series of commitments to support healthy diets under their healthy, sustainable	
and health, through an appro- priate governance structure and nutrition-related performance metrics for management at multi- ple levels	<ul> <li>nutrition priorities</li> <li>Report on governance structure for accountability in relation to nutrition and health</li> <li>Adoption of SMART nutrition-related</li> </ul>	diets strategy. <sup>89</sup> Since 2022, publicly available reports have been released annually describing the progress made towards achieving relevant targets. Recent reports outline healt and diet-specific key performance	
A3. Adopt an evidence-based defini- tion of 'healthy' that is based on (inter)national nutrition standards and/or guidelines and indepen- dent scientific evidence, and apply that definition consistently across all nutrition-related practices (see Box 5)	<ul> <li>goals / targets</li> <li>Regular disclosure of commitments and progress against goals / targets in publicly accessible reports</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>goals / targets</li> <li>Regular disclosure of commitments and progress against goals / targets in publicly accessible reports</li> <li>Volume and proportion of sales from healthy/unhealthy products, as defined by nationally endorsed</li> <li>indicators. This includ to increase the propo of healthy food (as de "Tesco Health Score" the Government's nut model) to 65 per cent 58 per cent as of 202</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>indicators. This includes a target to increase the proportion of sales of healthy food (as defined by their "Tesco Health Score", based on the Government's nutrient profiling model) to 65 per cent by 2025, from 58 per cent as of 2020.<sup>81</sup></li> <li>Woolworths (Australia) outlines their</li> </ul>
A4. Actively support implementation of global and national recom- mendations to improve nutrition, including refraining from lobbying activities that oppose or delay public health regulations to ad- dress unhealthy diets		action and progress on promoting healthier diets in their 2022 Annual Sustainability Report and Corporate Responsibility strategy documents. <sup>94</sup> This publicly available document outlines their goals to "materially increase healthier choices in our customers' baskets" and "inspire	
A5. Set SMART (specific, measur- able, achievable, relevant and time-bound) goals related to a comprehensive range of nutri- tion-related action areas (e.g., product development, labelling, product availability and place-		healthier choices." It also describes an ambition to grow the proportion of sales from healthier products (defined as those with a Health Star Rating of 3.5 stars and above) by 50 basis points annually.	
<ul> <li>Ment, responsible marketing)</li> <li>A6. Regularly monitor and evaluate progress against goals, including as part of external reporting</li> </ul>		<ul> <li>Lidl (United Kingdom) pledges goals of increasing sales of healthy and healthier products (defined by a nutrient profiling system adapted from Public Health England's</li> </ul>	
A7. Disclose commitments and quantified progress against com- mitments in publicly accessible reports		nutrient criteria) to 85 per cent (based on tonnage volume) and increasing the sales of fresh fruit and vegetables by 35 per cent by 2025. <sup>9</sup>	
<b>A8. Routinely conduct due diligence</b> <b>assessments</b> , including risk analy- ses, on how the business influenc- es children's rights to health and healthy food, <sup>92</sup> and report on such activities in line with the United Nations Guiding Principles Report- ing Framework <sup>93</sup>			

#### **B.** Product development and labelling

<b>Recommended actions for</b>	Suggested metrics for	International examples of
food retailers	monitoring and reporting	leadingpractice
<b>B1. Reformulation of existing product</b> <b>portfolios</b> : Improve the healthiness of product portfolios by continuing to reformulate existing 'own-brand' prod- ucts (including products for infants and young children) to make them healthier by reducing levels of free sugars, sodi- um and harmful fats in line with, and in support of, relevant government targets and guidelines, <sup>94</sup> while also adding positive ingredients, such as vegetables and whole grains	<ul> <li>Average levels of sodium, sugar, harmful fats and energy (per 100g) in own-brand products (by food category), including comparison with relevant government targets and guidelines (standard and sales-weighted)</li> <li>Proportion of products (by food category) that meet relevant government nutrient targets and guidelines (standard and sales- weighted)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Tesco (United Kingdom) reports annually on their progress in healthier reformulation,<sup>95</sup> noting for example that the proportion of own-brand ready-made meals containing at least one of the recommended 'five a day' (fruit and vegetables) increased by 26 per cent between 2018 and 2022. Tesco has set a target to increase the percentage of meals that contain at least one of the 'five a day' from 50 per cent in 2021 to</li> </ul>
<b>B2. New product development</b> : Ensure new product development is focused on healthier 'own-brand' products, while shifting product portfolios away from ultra-processed products high in sugar, sodium and harmful fats (see <b>Box 5</b> )	<ul> <li>Proportion of sales from healthy/ unhealthy own-brand products, as defined by nationally endorsed classification systems</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>66 per cent by 2025.</li> <li>Lidl (United Kingdom) has committed to reducing the average sales-weighted level of added sugar and added sodium in their own-brand</li> </ul>
<b>B3.</b> Portion sizes: Stock small and/or reduced package sizes of single serve unhealthy products, in line with govern- ment guidelines (relevant to product categories that are typically high in sodium, sugar, energy and/or harmful fats, such as confectionery, beverages, snacks and ice creams)	<ul> <li>Report on efforts to offer small and/or reduced single serve package sizes of unhealthy products in relevant categories</li> <li>Proportion of single serve packaged own-brand lines that offer 'smaller' (relative to current standard) package sizes (in key relevant product lines)</li> <li>Proportion of product sales from smaller single serve package sizes, compared with larger (current standard) package sizes (in key relevant product lines)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>products by 20 per cent by 2025 (baseline year of 2015).<sup>96</sup> This commitment refers to several national and international nutrition policy documents and expert recommendations.</li> <li>Woolworths (Australia) has committed to working towards voluntary reformulation targets se by the Australian Government's Healthy Food Partnership, and reports having reached 76 per cent compliance with the targets as of August 2022. Their New Zealand supermarket chain,</li> </ul>
<b>B4. Nutrition information online</b> : Provide detailed nutrition information online for all products sold on online stores	<ul> <li>Report on provision of nutrition information for online stores</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Countdown, reports that 65 per cent of own-brand products meet the New Zealand Heart Foundation's HeartSAFE nutrient targets.<sup>97</sup></li> <li>Coles and Woolworths (both Australia), include the Australian Government-endorsed Health Star Rating front-of-pack labelling system on all intended own-brand products. Their labelling practices have been verified by independent monitoring.<sup>98</sup></li> </ul>
<b>B5. Front-of-pack nutrition labelling:</b> Comply with government regulations and recommendations for front-of-pack nutrition labelling. Where government policies / recommendations are not in place, adopt globally recommended best practice front-of-pack nutrition labelling (simple, easy-to-understand) on all eligible 'own-brand' products	• Proportion of eligible own-brand products displaying government- recommended front-of-package labelling (if labelling system is not yet mandatory and a government- recommended scheme exists)	

#### Product development and labelling (cont.)

Recommended actions for food retailers	Suggested metrics for monitoring and reporting	International examples of leading practice
B6. Nutrition- and health-related claims: Comply with government regulations and recommendations for use of claims. Where government policies are not in place or are not compre- hensive, claims should comply with Codex Alimentarius Guidelines for use of nutrition and health claims, and re- tailers should responsibly use nutrition content claims (e.g., low in fat), health claims and health branding on own- brand products by only using them on a product or as a part of advertising when the product is healthy.	<ul> <li>Number of incidents of non- compliance with industry or regulatory labelling and/or marketing codes, and report on actions taken to remediate non- compliance (where applicable)</li> <li>Total amount of monetary losses as a result of legal proceedings associated with marketing and/or labelling practices</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>leading practice</li> <li>Several supermarkets in the United Kingdom (including Asda, Tesco and Sainsbury's) have pledged that own-brand products that do not meet their healthiness criteria cannot display health or nutrition claims, or 'healthier' branding and logo.<sup>99</sup></li> <li>Through the 2022 ATNI United Kingdom Retailer assessment, Morrisons (United Kingdom) cites engaging with food manufacturers to encourage reformulation of unhealthy products.<sup>100</sup> Woolworths notes in their 2022 Sustainability Report that they have formed a Supplier Sustainability Council called "Healthier Choices", which is a forum for engaging with their suppliers to support the achievement of their 2025 commitments, focused on increasing healthier choices in customers' baskets.<sup>101</sup></li> <li>Since 2006, several US supermarkets<sup>102</sup> have implemented nutrition summary shelf label systems, often combined with in-store educational programmes.</li> </ul>
<b>B7.</b> Summary nutrition information: Display summary nutrition information (in a simple, easy-to-understand format) at point of sale (e.g., on shelves, shelf/price tags, menu boards, in online stores). Such information should support, and be consistent with, implementation of front-of-pack nutrition labelling (where relevant)	• Report on strategies to provide summary nutrition information at point of sale (e.g., on shelves, shelf tags, online)	
<ul> <li>B8. Breast-milk substitutes: Retailers that either produce their own-brand breast-milk substitutes (formula) or sell other brands of formula must ensure that all products adhere to the relevant Codex standards for product quality and labelling and are in alignment with the International Code of Marketing of Breast-milk Substitutes (Code) (see Box 6). Retailers should avoid selling any products covered by the Code until the manufacturers comply with product quality and labelling provisions.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Report on compliance with the International Code of Marketing of Breast-milk Substitutes and subsequent World Health Assembly resolutions</li> </ul>	
<b>B9. Working with suppliers</b> : Where per- missible under local regulations, work backwards in the value chain to require and incentivize food manufacturers and suppliers to improve the healthi- ness of their products and the way that they are labelled, in support of relevant government targets and guidelines. For example, ensuring contracts with manufacturers and suppliers support sales of their healthy or healthier products, including through product development/reformulation and shelf space provision.	• Evidence of engagement with food manufacturers to improve healthiness of products supplied and product labelling, in line with government guidelines	

#### C. Product availability and placement

Recommended actions for food retailers	Suggested metrics for monitoring and reporting	International examples of leading practice
<b>C1.</b> Work with suppliers to reduce instore (and online) placement strategies that promote less healthy foods (e.g., unhealthy products at the eye and hand height of children, at checkouts, end-of-aisle displays and island bins), at all times of the year (including seasonal promotions, such as during major cultural festivals, where these strategies are often highly prevalent). Instead, ensure that non-food items and/ or healthy foods are promoted in prominent places in-store (and online)	<ul> <li>Percentage of space devoted to unhealthy food and beverages within displays at checkouts, end-of-aisles and promotional displays, including reporting by season</li> </ul>	• Between 2012 to 2020, Kiwi supermarkets (Norway) implemented placement strategies in-store to promote fruit and vegetables, including moving fruit and vegetable sections to the front of stores, increasing floor space for fresh produce, and stocking portioned cups of 'on the go' fruit and vegetables at store checkouts. These actions, adopted with other promotional and pricing initiatives, led to an increase in fruit and vegetable sales of 34 per cent, more than seven times the national
C2. Restrict the sale of certain less healthy products, such as energy drinks, to children	<ul> <li>Report on evidence of implementation of strategies to restrict the sale of certain less healthy products to children (e.g., a documented policy and evidence that retail staff have received training on the issue)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>level.<sup>103</sup></li> <li>Prior to the implementation of relevant government regulation, seven of the largest supermarket retailers in the United Kingdom (Aldi, Co-op, Lidl, Marks &amp; Spencer, Morrisons, Sainsbury's and Tesco)</li> </ul>
<b>C3.</b> Ensure healthy and 'healthier' products are affordable and equitability distributed across geographic areas and store for- mats. For example, ensure health- ier options are priced similarly to (and preferably cheaper than) less healthy equivalents, and healthier options are widely available (par- ticularly in rural/remote areas and lower-income communities), taking into account local preferences	<ul> <li>Report on strategies to ensure healthy and 'healthier' products are equitably distributed by geographic area</li> <li>Proportion of healthy/unhealthy product sales in rural and metropolitan areas</li> <li>Provide evidence of conducting pricing and distribution analysis to appropriately price and distribute healthy, affordable products</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>made commitments in relation to removing confectionery from their checkouts. <sup>104,105,106,107</sup> In addition, Aldi required all products sold at checkouts to meet their "Healthier Checkout criteria" (adapted from the Government's Ofcom model).<sup>108</sup> Evaluation of the impact of these commitments and the extent of thei implementation is in progress.</li> <li>Several supermarkets across the United Kingdom (Waitrose, Sainsbury's, Morrisons, Lidl, Co-op, Asda, Aldi and Tesco) and New Zealand (Countdown) restrict the sale of energy drinks to children under the age of 16.<sup>109,110</sup></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Co-op (United Kingdom) publicly pledged to ensure that 100 per cent of their healthier own-brand products are no more expensive than their standard equivalent product (based on price per kg).<sup>111</sup> They also monitor and report on their compliance to this commitment – with a 2021 assessment identifying only one non-compliant product.</li> </ul>

### D. Promotional activities

Recommended actions for food retailers	Suggested metrics for monitoring and reporting	International examples of leading practice
<ul> <li>D1. Work with suppliers to use price promotion strategies (e.g., discounts, loyalty discounts) to incentivize the purchase of healthier foods</li> <li>D2. Work with suppliers to restrict use of price promotion strategies (e.g., discounts, loyalty discounts) – at any time of the year (including seasonal promotions, such as during major cultural festivals, where these strategies are often highly prevalent) – that incentivize the purchase of less healthy foods</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Report on strategies to use price promotions to incentivize the purchase of healthier foods</li> <li>Report on strategies to restrict use of price promotions related to less healthy foods. Include metric on percentage of food and beverage price promotions devoted to less healthy food and beverages (implemented in various settings, such as catalogues, checkouts, endof-aisle displays, as part of loyalty programmes), including reporting by season; and report on the size of discounts offered for less healthy vs.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Delhaize (Belgium) provides customer incentives and discounts for purchasing healthy products. The supermarket's 'SuperPlus' loyalty programme provides customers with an automatic 5–15 per cent discount on products with a 'Nutri- Score' of A or B (most healthy).<sup>112</sup> Delhaize also launched the 'Healthy Membership Programme', a pilot programme where employees of participating companies receive a 20 per cent discount on 'healthy' products, resulting in substantially more sales of these products.</li> </ul>
D3. Work with suppliers to avoid promotional techniques that appeal to children (e.g., product packaging that features cartoon and animated characters, celebri- ties and/or images that appeal to children, competitions, toys, prizes or giveaways) in relation to less healthy foods	<ul> <li>healthy food and beverages</li> <li>Commit to removing imagery and other promotional techniques that appeal to children from less healthy 'own-brand' products</li> <li>Report on additional strategies to avoid promotional techniques that appeal to children in relation to less healthy foods</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Morrisons (United Kingdom) have committed to providing promotions for an average of 50 lines of fresh fruit and vegetables each week in an effort to keep fresh food affordable for shoppers.<sup>113</sup></li> <li>Sainsbury (United Kingdom) phased out multi-buy promotions in 2016. In light of proposed government restrictions on unhealthy food</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>D4. Align policies and practices on the marketing of breast-milk substitutes (formula) with the In- ternational Code of Marketing of Breast-milk Substitutes (including subsequent resolutions) such that these products are not promot- ed in any form (e.g., no special displays, no discounts, no gifts/ giveaways/samples) (see Box 6)</li> <li>D5. Align policies and practices relating to complementary foods ('baby' foods or foods for infants and young children between 6 months and 3 years of age) with the International Code of Mar- keting of Breast-milk Substitutes (including subsequent resolutions, particularly World Health Assem- bly resolution 69.9) (see Box 6)<sup>118</sup></li> </ul>	Report on compliance with the International Code of Marketing of Breast-milk Substitutes and subsequent World Health Assembly resolutions	<ul> <li>promotions (implementation currently delayed), Tesco (United Kingdom) also pledged to cease multi-buy promotions on unhealthy foods by the end of October 2022.<sup>114</sup></li> <li>Marks and Spencer (United Kingdom) commits to not directly advertise any unhealthy foods to children under 18.<sup>115</sup> In 2021, Morrisons (United Kingdom) removed all characters that appeal to children from children's snacks that are high in fat, sugar and sodium.<sup>116</sup> Similarly, Woolworths (Australia), have pledged that, by 2025, characters appealing to children will only appear on packaging of healthier products.<sup>117</sup></li> </ul>

#### **Promotional activities (cont.)**

Recommended actions for food retailers	Suggested metrics for monitoring and reporting	International examples of leading practice
<b>D6. Where protein foods are promot-</b> <b>ed</b> , <sup>i</sup> work with suppliers to focus promotions on healthy and envi- ronmentally sustainable sources of minimally processed protein foods	<ul> <li>Report on change in proportion of sales that come from animal versus plant-based protein sources</li> </ul>	• Sainsbury's (United Kingdom) ran a <b>'half and half' campaign</b> (2022) to encourage customers to mix pulses with half meat in popular recipes, like curries, lasagne and casseroles.
D7. Implement strategies to improve food literacy and inspire selec- tion of healthier choices, aligned with relevant government guide- lines and strategies (e.g., dietary guidelines, relevant food labelling regulations)	Report on strategies used to improve food literacy and inspire selection of healthier choices	<ul> <li>Evaluation showed that customers were more willing to try this in innovative recipes, like curry, than traditional favourites, like lasagne.<sup>119</sup></li> <li>Migros Ticaret (Türkiye) has an ongoing project, 'Growing Healthy with Migros', to strengthen children's awareness about healthy living. Store managers carry out store tours for children while addressing the following topics: the importance of a balanced diet, balancing energy intake with physical activity, health benefits of fruits and vegetables, food security, and reading nutrition labels. Migros Ticaret also created an animated video covering all educational materials with the support of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), which reached 2.1 million children through Migros TV and social media channels.<sup>120</sup></li> <li>The Kroger Co (USA) has a core group of dietitians that provide services in-store and virtually to customers. The services include nutrition advice, education and personalized approaches to eating and enjoying food. A large scale evaluation of Kroger dietitian-led nutrition interventions found positive results on diet quality of participants.<sup>121</sup></li> </ul>

i In many markets, such as in the United Kingdom and Australia, most people already eat more than enough protein (see: https://dietitiansaustralia.org.au/health-advice/protein). In these markets, there are some groups of people, such as children and older people, who may need to monitor the amount of protein they eat to ensure they get enough. In some low- and middle-income countries, protein intake at the population level may be below recommendations (see: https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(18)31788-4/fulltext).

## BOX 6

## International Code of Marketing of Breast-milk Substitutes and the role of food retailers

- The World Health Assembly adopted the International Code of Marketing of Breast-milk Substitutes in 1981 and relevant subsequent resolutions (collectively referred to as 'the Code') to protect and promote appropriate infant and young child feeding. The scope of the Code includes all breast-milk substitutes (all formula and milk products marketed as suitable for children 0–36 months of age), feeding bottles and teats. Subsequent World Health Assembly resolutions also provide guidance on the regulation of complementary foods.
- The Code advocates for babies to be breastfed, and where this is not possible, that they are fed safely on the best available nutritional alternative. Substitutes should be available when needed, but should not be promoted.<sup>122</sup>
- Food retailers have specific responsibilities as part of the Code. These responsibilities include not promoting infant and toddler formulas through marketing or

other promotional practices such as special displays or discounts. The Code also contains a detailed list of labelling requirements for both breast-milk substitutes and complementary foods that include instructions for appropriate and safe use of the products (including a pathogen warning), as well as specific criteria on the use of health/nutrition claims and messages that support breastfeeding, among others.

- UNICEF recommends the following actions from food retailers who sell breast-milk substitutes and complementary foods:
  - Adhering to all provisions of the Code that apply to distributors (and manufacturers as appropriate) to all products sold that are within the scope of the Code, and public disclosure of such adherence. Retailers are required to adopt the provisions of the Code regardless of the status of national laws or regulations.

- Ensuring that the nutritional composition of own-brand complementary food products aligns with the nutrient profiling standards set out in WHO Europe's Nutrient and Promotion Profile Model.<sup>123</sup>
- Ensuring that labelling requirements, nutritional quality and promotional criteria of complementary foods (even if not own-brand) align with the provisions set out by WHO. This includes no marketing of complementary foods in relation to infants under 6 months of age. In countries where standards and/or nutrient profiles for this age group have not been developed, all promotion of complementary foods is prohibited until such standards are adopted.
- Establishing strong systems to monitor adherence to the Code.





## **Current food retailer actions to promote healthy eating**

• Around the world, many large food retailers are taking voluntary action to improve the healthiness of food environments.<sup>124</sup> Common actions include product reformulation (e.g., reducing sodium and sugar content of own-brand products), front-of-pack nutrition labelling and promotional initiatives. Refer to **Box 7**, **Box 8 and Box 9** for case study examples.

While many of the voluntary actions taken by large food retailers are supported by evidence and are likely to be effective if implemented at scale, independent evaluations and external benchmarks suggest that, thus far, the actions taken fall short of recommendations (refer to **Box 10** for an assessment of food retailer performance in the United Kingdom).<sup>125,126,127,128</sup>

A key challenge in assessing the value of existing measures is that there are a lack of comparable nutrition-related data on food retailers, limited disclosure across the sector, and many of the actions taken have been limited in scope. Moreover, food retailers typically do not report the impact of existing initiatives on consumer purchases. Comprehensive action to restrict the promotion and placement of unhealthy foods and/or increase the promotion and placement of healthy foods in-store is also lacking. It is critical that food retailers expand the scope and scale of their current nutrition-related actions. with a focus on measures that have a broad impact on the population, as these will have an impact on children and young people either directly or via their parents. Moreover, it is important for food retailers to rigorously evaluate their activities and share relevant data/results, regularly report on progress using standardized metrics, and actively support government implementation of structural measures (e.g., taxes and regulations) that aim to promote healthy diets among children and the rest of the population.



## **Woolworths (Australia)**

Woolworths (Australia) integrates nutrition as part of their corporate strategy. In their Sustainability Plan 2025,<sup>129</sup> the supermarket chain outlines a goal to "materially increase healthier choices in customers' baskets" and explicitly references SDG3 on "good health and well-being". Woolworths' nutrition-related goal is supported by a range of detailed commitments on product range and formulation, nutrition labelling, promotional initiatives to support nutrition, and responsible marketing to children.

Woolworths' ambition is to have the healthiest supermarket own-brand portfolio in Australia, striving for healthier product innovation, and continuing reformulation of own-brand products to reduce sodium, sugar and saturated fats and include more vegetables and wholegrains. A focus on clear and transparent nutrition labelling has seen Woolworths voluntarily adopt the governmentendorsed Health Star Rating on 100 per cent of eligible own-brand products, and commit to using nutrition content claims responsibly.

In all stores across Australia, Woolworths provides free fresh Fruit for Kids. Woolworths also offers Fresh Food Kids Discovery Tours, a curriculum-aligned, digital programme that allows schools and children to learn about where fresh food comes from. Additionally, Woolworths has committed to placing "characters, graphics and activities that are primarily appealing to children" solely on packaging for healthier own brand products.





Tesco (United Kingdom) has made several commitments towards the provision of healthier foods. In 1994, Tesco began voluntarily restricting the sale of unhealthy food and beverages at checkouts, replacing them with products, such as dried fruit and nuts, that are considered under national guidelines to be 'healthier' snacks. This initiative was completed in 2015.<sup>130</sup>

In 2021 and 2022, under Tesco's healthy, sustainable diets strategy,<sup>131</sup> the supermarket chain reported that it aimed to increase the proportion of sales of healthier food to 65 per cent by 2025, while also reformulating own-brand products to reduce sugar, salt, fat, while increasing fruit, vegetable

and fibre content. Tesco publicized its intention to ensure that 'healthier' alternatives would be available to customers at the same or a lower price than what they would pay for an unhealthy item. This built on Tesco's commitment to increasing the number of promotions of healthy products.

Tesco also established a Corporate Responsibility Committee, renamed the Sustainability Committee in April 2023, chaired by an independent non-executive Director, to oversee the implementation of these commitments. The committee meets at least tri-annually and publicly reports on its progress annually.



## **Digital tools to encourage consumers to make healthier purchases**

Several food retailers have developed app-based and/or other digital initiatives to encourage consumers to purchase healthier products, typically linked with consumer loyalty programmes. There is a large amount of encouraging innovation in this area, but few impact evaluations on the characteristics of these initiatives that are most effective from a public health perspective. Accordingly, when implementing these types of initiatives, it is important for food retailers to commit to ongoing evaluation, including assessment of their impact on the healthiness of overall store sales, consumer baskets and dietary consumption. Sharing insights from evaluations can raise standards across the field by encouraging other food retailers to adopt effective actions. Below are three recent examples of initiatives in this area:

**K Group (Finland)** launched the K-Ostokset smartphone app in 2020.<sup>133</sup> Through the app, shoppers can compare levels of risk nutrients (like sodium and sugar) and particular food groups (such as vegetables, fish and red meat) in the foods they buy to national recommendations, and then set goals for their next shop. The app connects with the supermarket's loyalty programme and product nutrition information from a national product database.





**Migros Ticaret (Türkiye)** has added a *Well-being Journey* programme to its customer loyalty app and online shopping app.<sup>134</sup> The programme compares customers' food purchases with recommended consumption, and shares customized video messages prepared by dietitians about the food groups they need for balanced nutrition. Customers are also provided with personalized discounts on food groups in which their consumption is below recommendations. The programme has options for vegans and vegetarians and also provides interactive digital advice supporting healthy lifestyles, such as a water consumption reminder and step tracker. By 2023, the programme had reached 5.4 million unique customers, with 30 per cent of customers indicating positive behavioural change.

**Sainsbury's (United Kingdom)** incorporated a fruit and vegetable tracker into a customer loyalty app to encourage shoppers to purchase more fruit and vegetables, as part of their 'Great Big Fruit and Veg Challenge' (June 2021).<sup>133</sup> The gamification app leverages multiple initiatives:

- Sets personalised goals to encourage customers to increase their fruit and veg intake over 6 weeks.
- Helps customers track progress through 'data playback'.
- Rewards customers with loyalty points for increasing purchase and for trying something new.

An evaluation conducted in partnership with the University of Leeds reported that loyalty programme shoppers who participated in the challenge (over 460,000 customers) purchased an average of 3.6 more portions of fruit and vegetables per week, compared to before pre-challenge purchasing habits. This pattern was maintained for vegetable purchases up to 6-weeks post-trial but returned to baseline levels for fruit purchases.<sup>135</sup>



### **ВОХ 10**

#### Access to Nutrition Initiative (ATNI) – United Kingdom Retailer Index 2022

In 2022, ATNI published the United Kingdom Retailer Index 2022 as an external benchmark of the nutrition- and health-related policies and practices of the largest 11 grocery retailers in the country.<sup>132</sup>

Findings from the report indicated that there was considerable variation in the performance of the retailers, with no one company standing out as taking strong action across all topics assessed. The report found that while some retailers had recognized their role in contributing to nutrition-related efforts and had made commitments to reduce sugar and salt, introduce healthy checkouts and use front-of-pack nutrition labelling, these policies and commitments typically fell short of recommended good practice.

In 2024, ATNI's new retail index will be rolled out among the top 10 global food retailers as part of ATNI's next Global Index. ATNI aims to repeat these every two years thereafter to benchmark and assess progress on nutrition by the world's largest retailers.





#### • Food retailers have a critical role as part of societal efforts to improve the diets of children and to address malnutrition in all its

forms. A strong focus on nutrition and health is likely to deliver longterm value to food retailers and their investors. There are a range of evidence-based actions that food retailers can take to improve the healthiness of retail food environments, and positively impact the diets of children and families. First and foremost, food retailers can support government-led regulation to create healthy food environments and a level playing field for all food retailers. Food retailers can also ensure that their business decisions contribute to children's rights to

nutrition and health by making meaningful commitments, taking evidence-based nutrition-related actions, and routinely reporting on progress using standardized metrics. These actions can reduce risks and increase business opportunities.

There are many international examples of food retailers showing leadership in the area of nutrition and demonstrating the feasibility of implementing nutrition-related initiatives. In order to increase the impact of current actions, food retailers globally will need to expand the scope and scale of their current nutrition-related activities, with a focus on measures that have a broad impact on the population, accompanied by rigorous evaluation and sharing of lessons learned. Collaboration and cooperation across the sector, supported by strong government leadership and regulation on nutrition-related issues, are likely to be critical in ensuring sustained improvements to the healthiness of retail food environments.

This Guidance Framework is designed to inspire food retail companies towards a 'race to the top' on nutrition, encouraging best practices that both prioritize children's rights to good nutrition and health, while generating long-term business value.



## References

- 1 United Nations General Assembly, 1989. Convention on the Rights of the Child, United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 1577. Available at: https://www. ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/ instruments/convention-rights-child
- 2 United Nations, 2015. The UN Sustainable Development Goals. Available at: https://sdgs.un.org/goals
- 3 Afshin A, Sur PJ, Fay KA, Cornaby L, Ferrara G, Salama JS, et al. Health effects of dietary risks in 195 countries, 1990-2013;2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. The Lancet. 2019;393(10184):1958-72
- 4 World Health Organization. Obesity and overweight. Available from: https:// www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/ detail/obesity-and-overweight.
- 5 Swinburn B, Sacks G, Hall K, et al. The global obesity pandemic: Shaped by global drivers and local environments. The Lancet. 2011;378(9793):804-14.
- 6 Min J, Zhao Y, Slivka L, Wang Y. Double burden of diseases worldwide: coexistence of undernutrition and overnutrition-related non-communicable chronic diseases. Obesity Reviews. 2018;19(1):49-61
- 7 UNICEF, WHO, International Bank, for Reconstruction and Development/The World Bank, 2021. Levels and trends in child malnutrition: key findings of the 2021 edition of the joint child malnutrition estimates.
- 8 Kataria I, Jackson-Morris A, Jewell J, Williams D'A, Bhandari P, Sharma D, Lai J, Jain T, Colozza D. Weight stigma among adolescents in three low- and middle-income countries. J Glob Health 2022;12:04098.
- 9 UNICEF, 2019. The State of the World's Children. Available at: https://data. unicef.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/ State-of-the-Worlds-Children-report-2019.pdf
- 10 Swinburn BA, et al. The global obesity pandemic: Shaped by global drivers and local environments. The Lancet. 2011;378(9793):804-14
- 11 Swinburn BA, et al. The Global Syndemic of Obesity, Undernutrition, and Climate Change: The Lancet Commission report. The Lancet. 2019;393(10173):791-846
- 12 Access to Nutrition Initiative (ATNI), 2020. Investor Expectations on Nutrition, Diet and Health. Utrecht: ATNI. Available at: https://accessto-

nutrition.org/app/uploads/2020/06/ Investor-Expectations-on-Nutrition-Diets-and-Health-FINAL.pdf

- 13 Popkin B. Relationship between shifts in food system dynamics and acceleration of the global nutrition transition. Nutrition Reviews. 2017;75(2):73–82
- 14 Reardon T, Timmer CP, Minten B. Supermarket revolution in Asia and emerging development strategies to include small farmers. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2012;109:12332–12337
- 15 Peeters A, et al. Creating food retail environments for health. Available at: https://insightplus.mja.com. au/2018/34/creating-food-retail-environments-for-health/
- 16 Harris JL, Webb V, Sacco SJ, Pomeranz JL. Marketing to Children in Supermarkets: An Opportunity for Public Policy to Improve Children's Diets. International Journal of Environmental Research Public Health. 2020;17(4):1284
- 17 NBIM, 2020. Corporate Sustainability Reporting: Position Paper. Available at: https://www.nbim.no/en/the-fund/ responsible-investment/our-voting-records/position-papers/corporate-sustainability-reporting/
- 18 Access to Nutrition Initiative, 2022. UK Retailer Index 2022. Available at: https:// accesstonutrition.org/the-indexes/ uk-retailer-index-2022/
- Sacks G, et al. Benchmarking the Nutrition-Related Policies and Commitments of Major Food Companies in Australia, 2018. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020 Aug 22;17(17):6118
- 20 Peeters A, et al. Creating food retail environments for health. Available at: https://insightplus.mja.com. au/2018/34/creating-food-retail-environments-for-health/
- 21 United Nations, 2013. Convention on the Rights of the Child: General comment No.16 (2013) on State obligations regarding the impact of the business sector on children's rights. Available at: https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/ crc/docs/crc.c.gc.16.pdf
- 22 The Food Foundation, 2022. The State of the Nation's Food Industry. Available at: https://foodfoundation.org.uk/sites/ default/files/2022-10/FF\_SofNFI\_Report%202022\_0\_3.pdf
- 23 Kelly, B et al. Global benchmarking of children's exposure to television advertising of unhealthy foods and beverages across 22 countries. Obesity Reviews. 2019; 20( S2): 116–128

- 24 Knai C et al. The Public Health Responsibility Deal: Using a Systems-Level Analysis to Understand the Lack of Impact on Alcohol, Food, Physical Activity, and Workplace Health Sub-Systems. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2018;15(12):2895.
- 25 Erzse, A., Karim, S.A., Foley, L. et al. A realist review of voluntary actions by the food and beverage industry and implications for public health and policy in low- and middle-income countries. Nat Food 3, 650–663 (2022). https://doi. org/10.1038/s43016-022-00552-5
- 26 World Cancer Research Fund International, 2018. Building momentum: lessons on implementing a robust sugar sweetened beverage tax. Available at: https://www.wcrf.org/wp-content/ uploads/2021/04/PPA-Building-Momentum-Report-WEB.pdf
- 27 Sing, F, et al. Designing legislative responses to restrict children's exposure to unhealthy food and non-alcoholic beverage marketing: a case study analysis of Chile, Canada and the United Kingdom. Global Health. 2022; 18(72).
- 28 Taillie L et al. An evaluation of Chile's Law of Food Labeling and Advertising on sugar-sweetened beverage purchases from 2015 to 2017: A before-and-after study. PLOS Medicine. 2020;17(2):e1003015
- 29 World Cancer Research Fund International, 2020. NOURISHING and MOVING policy databases, 'Limits on the availability of high-sugar food products and beverages.' Available at: https://policydatabase.wcrf.org/ level\_one?page=nourishing-level-one#step2=4#step3=324
- 30 Science and Technology Committee UK, 2018. Energy drinks and children: Thirteenth Report of Session 2017–19. Available at: https://publications. parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/ cmsctech/821/821.pdf
- 31 The Guardian, 2020. 'Mexico state bans sale of sugar drinks and junk food to children'. Available at: https://www. theguardian.com/food/2020/aug/06/ mexico-oaxaca-sugary-drinks-junkfood-ban-children
- 32 World Health Organization, 2018. REPLACE Trans Fat: An action package to eliminate industrially-produced trans fatty acids. Available at: https:// www.who.int/docs/default-source/documents/replace-transfats/replace-action-package.pdf?Status=Temp&sfvrsn=64e0a8a5\_10

- 33 Trieu K et al. Salt Reduction Initiatives around the World - A Systematic Review of Progress towards the Global Target. PLoS One. 2015;10(7):e0130247
- 34 European Parliament, 2022. Press release: 'Sustainable economy: Parliament adopts new reporting rules for multinationals'. Available at: https:// www.europarl.europa.eu/news/ en/press-room/20221107IPR49611/ sustainable-economy-parliament-adopts-new-reporting-rules-for-multinationals
- 35 The Food Foundation, 2022. The State of the Nation's Food Industry. Available at: https://foodfoundation.org.uk/sites/ default/files/2022-10/FF\_SofNFI\_Report%202022\_0\_3.pdf
- 36 UNICEF, 2019. The Convention on the Rights of the Child: The children's version. Available at: https://www.unicef. org/child-rights-convention/convention-text-childrens-version
- 37 UNICEF, 2019. Protecting Children's Right to a Healthy Food Environment. Available at: https://www.unicef.org/ media/96101/file/Protecting-Childrens-Right-Healthy-Food-Environment.pdf
- 38 United Nations, 2015. UN Guiding Principles: Reporting Framework with implementation guidance. Available at: https://www.ungpreporting.org/ wp-content/uploads/UNGPReporting-Framework\_withguidance2017.pdf
- 39 UNICEF, The UN Global Compact, and Save the Children, 2019. Children's Rights and Business Principles. Available at: https://www.unicef.org/ documents/childrens-rights-and-business-principles
- 40 United Nations, Convention on the Rights of the Child. General comment No. 16 (2013) on State obligations regarding the impact of the business sector on children's rights. Available at: https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/ crc/docs/crc.c.gc.16.pdf
- 41 Elver, H. (2016). UN Special Rapporteur on the Right to Food: Report A/71/282. Available at: https://www.unscn.org/ uploads/web/news/A-71-282-Nutrition-EN.pdf
- 42 Grover, A. (2014). Report of the Special Rapporteur on the right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health. Unhealthy foods, non-communicable diseases and the right to health. Available at: https://www.ohchr. org/sites/default/files/HRBodies/HRC/ RegularSessions/Session26/Documents/A-HRC-26-31\_en.doc
- 43 World Health Organization, 2016. Report of the commission on ending childhood

obesity. Available at: https://www.who. int/publications/i/item/9789241510066

- 44 Plating Up Progress, 2021. Policy Brief: Mandatory business reporting to accelerate the food industry's transition to healthy and sustainable food. Available at: https://foodfoundation.org.uk/sites/ default/files/2021-10/Plating-Up-Progress-Policy-Briefing.pdf
- 45 Schroders & Rathbone Greenbank, 2017. Sugar, obesity and noncommunicable disease: investor expectations. https://prod.schroders.com/en/sysglobalassets/news/sugar-investor-expectations-report.pdf
- 46 Access to Nutrition Initiative, 2020. Investor expectations on nutrition diets and health. Available at: https://accesstonutrition.org/app/uploads/2020/06/ Investor-Expectations-on-Nutrition-Diets-and-Health-FINAL.pdf
- 47 Schroders & Rathbone Greenbank, 2017. Sugar, obesity and noncommunicable disease: investor expectations. https://prod.schroders.com/en/sysglobalassets/news/sugar-investor-expectations-report.pdf
- 48 Carroll AB, 2015. Corporate social responsibility: The centerpiece of competing and complementary frameworks. Available at: https://psycnet.apa.org/ record/2015-24325-005
- 49 Independent UK, 2021. 'Tesco expands health food pledge after investor pressure'. Available at: https://www.independent.co.uk/news/business/news/ tesco-healthy-food-shareaction-obesity-b1842347.html.
- 50 The Sydney Morning Herald Australia, 2018. 'Aldi and IGA score low in obesity prevention efforts, supermarket report card shows. Available at: 'https://www. smh.com.au/national/nsw/aldi-and-igascore-low-in-obesity-prevention-efforts-supermarket-report-card-shows-20180223-p4z1hu.html
- 51 7News Australia, 2021. 'Australian supermarkets 'red-flagged' for unhealthy food promotion at the checkout.' Available at:
- https://7news.com.au/lifestyle/shopping/ australian-supermarkets-red-flaggedfor-unhealthy-food-promotion-at-thecheckout-c-3123926
- 52 Souza-Monteiro D, Hooker N. Comparing UK food retailers corporate social responsibility strategies. British Food Journal. 2017;119(3):658-75
- 53 Borsellino V, Kaliji SA, Schimmenti E. COVID-19 Drives Consumer Behaviour and Agro-Food Markets towards Healthier and More Sustainable Patterns. Sustainability. 2020;12(20)

- 54 CSIRO Australia, 2019. Growth opportunities for Australian food and agribusiness: Economic analysis and market sizing. Available at" : https://www. csiro.au/-/media/Do-Business/Files/Futures/GrowthOpportunitiesAustralian-FoodAgribusiness.pdf
- 55 World Business Council for Sustainable Development, 2018. FReSH insight report. Consumption behaviour and trends: Understanding the shift required towards healthy, sustainable and enjoyable diets. Available at: https:// docs.wbcsd.org/2018/07/FReSH\_Consumption\_Report.pdf
- 56 Blake MR et al. The 'Eat Well @ IGA' healthy supermarket randomised controlled trial: process evaluation. International Journal of Behavioural Nutrition and Physical Activity. 2021;18(1):36
- 57 Blake MR et al. Investigating business outcomes of healthy food retail strategies: A systematic scoping review. Obesity Reviews. 2019;20(10):1384-99
- 58 Vogel C, Crozier S, Penn-Newman D, Ball K, Moon G, Lord J, et al. Altering product placement to create a healthier layout in supermarkets: Outcomes on store sales, customer purchasing, and diet in a prospective matched controlled cluster study. PLoS Med. 2021;18(9):e1003729
- 59 For example: Aldi Australia, 2018. 'Healthy shopping made easy at ALDI'. Available at: https://www.aldiunpacked. com.au/healthy-shopping-made-easyat-aldi/
- 60 Brimblecombe J et al. Effect of restricted retail merchandising of discretionary food and beverages on population diet: a pragmatic randomised controlled trial. Lancet Planet Health. 2020;4(10):e463-e473
- 61 ShareAction, 2022. 'Consumer data shows demand for more action from food manufacturers on health'. Available at: https://shareaction.org/reports/ consumer-data-shows-demand-formore-action-from-food-manufacturerson-health
- 62 EAT Foundation, 2023. CO-CREATE Dialogue Forum Tool. Available at: https:// eatforum.org/initiatives/co-create/
- 63 Crippa M et al. Food systems are responsible for a third of global anthropogenic GHG emissions. Nature Food. 2021;2(3):198-209
- 64 Swinburn BA, et al. The Global Syndemic of Obesity, Undernutrition, and Climate Change: The Lancet Commission report. The Lancet. 2019;393(10173):791-846
- 65 Willett W et al. Food in the Anthropocene: the EAT-Lancet Commission on

healthy diets from sustainable food systems. Lancet. 2019;393(10170):447-92

- 66 The Food Foundation, 2022. The State of the Nation's Food Industry. Available at: https://foodfoundation.org.uk/sites/ default/files/2022-10/FF\_SofNFI\_Report%202022\_0\_3.pdf
- 67 Development Initiatives, 2017. Global Nutrition Report 2017: Nourishing the SDGs. Available at: https://globalnutritionreport.org/reports/2017-global-nutrition-report/
- 68 UNICEF, 2019. Protecting Children's Right to a Healthy Food Environment. Available at: https://www.unicef.org/ media/96101/file/Protecting-Childrens-Right-Healthy-Food-Environment. pdf
- 69 World Obesity Federation, 2020. 'Obesity: missing the 2025 targets'. Available at: https://www.worldobesity.org/ resources/resource-library/world-obesity-day-missing-the-targets-report#:~:text=Obesity%3A%20missing%20 the%202025%20targets,country%20 reports%20for%20200%20countries.
- 70 Robinson E et al. Latest Trends in Investing for Improved Nutrition and Obesity Prevention. Current Nutrition Reports. 2022;11(1):39-55
- 71 Schroders & Rathbone Greenbank, 2017. Sugar, obesity and noncommunicable disease: investor expectations. https://prod.schroders.com/en/sysglobalassets/news/sugar-investor-expectations-report.pdf
- 72 Chatham House, 2020. Chatham House Report: The Business Case for Investment in Nutrition. Available at: https:// www.chathamhouse.org/2020/07/business-case-investment-nutrition
- 73 Access to Nutrition Initiative, 2021. Institutional investors' approaches to addressing nutrition, diets and health. https://accesstonutrition.org/ app/uploads/2021/11/Investor-report-20211129-final-for-website-1.pdf
- 74 Access to Nutrition Initiative (ATNI), 2020. Investor Expectations on Nutrition, Diet and Health. Available at: https://accesstonutrition.org/app/ uploads/2020/06/Investor-Expectations-on-Nutrition-Diets-and-Health-FI-NAL.pdf
- 75 Robinson E, Parker C, Carey R, Sacks G. The Extent to Which Obesity and Population Nutrition Are Considered by Institutional Investors Engaged in Responsible Investment in Australia - A Review of Policies and Commitments. 2020;11(3647)
- 76 The Food Foundation, 2022. 'Investors managing £6 trillion say UK Government must commit to mandatory

health and sustainability standards for food companies'. Available at: https:// foodfoundation.org.uk/press-release/investors-managing-ps6-trillion-say-uk-government-must-commit-mandatory-health-and

- 77 Norges Bank Investment Management, 2022. Children's rights: expectations of companies. Available at: https:// www.nbim.no/en/the-fund/responsible-investment/principles/expectations-to-companies/childrens-rights/
- 78 Access to Nutrition Initiative (ATNI), 2020. Investor Expectations on Nutrition, Diet and Health. Available at: https://accesstonutrition.org/app/ uploads/2020/06/Investor-Expectations-on-Nutrition-Diets-and-Health-FI-NAL.pdf
- 79 Access to Nutrition Initiative (ATNI), 2020. Investor Expectations on Nutrition, Diet and Health. Available at: https://accesstonutrition.org/app/ uploads/2020/06/Investor-Expectations-on-Nutrition-Diets-and-Health-FI-NAL.pdf
- 80 Rathbone Greenbank Investments, 2021. 'Shareholders urge action from UK government following the National Food Strategy's recommendations'. Available at: https://www.rathbonegreenbank. com/insight/shareholders-urge-action-uk-government-following-national-food-strategys-recommendations
- 81 Tesco, 2021. 'Tesco makes ambitious new commitments to support healthy, sustainable diets'. Available at: https:// www.tescoplc.com/news/2021/ tesco-makes-ambitious-new-commitments-to-support-healthy-sustainable-diets/
- 82 Grigsby-Duffy, L et al. Food industry perspectives on potential policies targeting unhealthy food and beverage price promotions in Australian supermarkets. BMC Public Health 22, 1423 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-13812-7
- 83 World Health Organization, 2023. Healthy diet. Available at: https://www. who.int/initiatives/behealthy/healthy-diet
- 84 See, for example: WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2015. Nutrient profile Model. Available at: .https://www.euro.who. int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0005/270716/ Nutrient-children\_web-new.pdf; or Regional Office for the Americas of the World Health Organization, 2017. PAHO Nutrient Profile Model. Available at: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/18621
- 85 Labonté ME, et al. Nutrient profile models with applications in government-led nutrition policies aimed at health pro-

motion and noncommunicable disease prevention: A systematic review. Adv Nutr. 2018;9(6):741–88

- 86 Monteiro et al. Ultra-processed foods: what they are and how to identify them. Public Health Nutrition. 2019 Apr;22(5):936-941
- 87 Chen et al. Consumption of ultra-processed foods and health outcomes: a systematic review of epidemiological studies. Nutrition Journal. 2020 Aug 20;19(1):86
- 88 Boada LD, Henríquez-Hernández LA, Luzardo OP. The impact of red and processed meat consumption on cancer and other health outcomes: Epidemiological evidences. Food Chemistry Toxicology. 2016 Jun;92:236-44
- 89 Tesco, 2021. Sustainability Reporting Hub. Available at: https://www.tescoplc. com/sustainability/reporting-hub
- 90 Woolworths, 2022. Sustainability Report. Available at: https://www. woolworthsgroup.com.au/content/dam/ wwg/investors/reports/2022/full-year/ Woolworths%20Group%20Sustainability%20Report%202022%20print%20 friendly.pdf
- 91 Lidl, 2021. 'Lidl GB Pledges to increase sales of healthier food.' Available at: https://corporate.lidl.co.uk/media-centre/pressreleases/2021/healthier-food-pledge-2021
- 92 Refer to Box 2 and: United Nations, 2023. Corporate human rights due diligence – identifying and leveraging emerging practices. Available at: https://www.ohchr.org/en/special-procedures/wg-business/corporate-human-rights-due-diligence-identifying-and-leveraging-emerging-practices
- 93 United Nations, 2015. Guiding Principles Reporting Framework. Available at: https://www.ungpreporting.org/
- 94 Also refer to recommendations on the use of non-nutritive sweeteners by the WHO Nutrition Guidance Expert Advisory Group, once finalised.
- 95 Tesco, 2021. 21/22 Healthy, sustainable diets - Factsheet. Available at: https:// www.tescoplc.com/media/eyuptxbc/healthy-sustainable-diets-factsheet-2023.pdf
- 96 Von Philipsborn, P., Stratil, J., Heise, T., Landgraf, R., Hauner, H., & Rehfuess, E. (2018). Voluntary industry initiatives to promote healthy diets: A case study on a major European food retailer. Public Health Nutrition, 21(18), 3469-3476.
- 97 Woolworths, 2022. Sustainability Report. Available at: https://www. woolworthsgroup.com.au/content/dam/ wwg/investors/reports/2022/full-year/

Woolworths%20Group%20Sustainability%20Report%202022%20print%20 friendly.pdf

- 98 The George Institute for Global Health, 2021. FoodSwitch: State of the Food Supply. Available at: https://www. georgeinstitute.org/sites/default/files/ SotFS-Report.pdf
- 99 Bite Back, 2022. Bite Back 2030: Don't Hide What's Inside report. Available at: https://uploads-ssl. webflow.com/6155f242856ab-5513382ca6e/6170321b00a-5732425da6244\_BB2030%20DHWI%20 report%20final.pdf
- 100 Access to Nutrition Initiative, 2022. UK Retailer Index 2022. Available at: https://accesstonutrition.org/the-indexes/uk-retailer-index-2022/
- 101 Woolworths, 2022. Sustainability Report. Available at: https://www. woolworthsgroup.com.au/content/ dam/wwg/investors/reports/2022/ full-year/Woolworths%20Group%20 Sustainability%20Report%202022%20 print%20friendly.pdf
- 102 Supermarket News, 2011. 'Nutrition at the Shelf Edge'. Available at: https:// www.supermarketnews.com/healthamp-wellness/nutrition-shelf-edge
- 103 Slapø H, et al. Can in-store interventions reduce the socioeconomic gap in fruit and vegetable purchases in grocery stores? A descriptive study of volume sales from 2012 to 2020 in Norway's largest grocery store chain. Appetite. 2022 Sep 1;176:106100
- 104 Tesco UK, 2015. 'Sweets and chocolate removed from all checkouts today.' Available at: https://www. tescoplc.com/news/2015/sweets-andchocolates-removed-from-all-checkouts-from-today/
- 105 Aldi UK, 2023. 'Encouraging healthier food choices for customers'. Available at: https://www.aldi.co.uk/healthier-checkouts
- 106 Lidl UK, 2023. Making healthier choices easier. Available at: https:// corporate.lidl.co.uk/sustainability/ healthy-eating/sub-folder/sub-folder/ landing-page-healthier-choices
- 107 Sustain, 2015. 'Children's Food Campaign welcomes M&S healthy checkout move.' Available at: https://www. sustainweb.org/news/jul15\_ms\_checkouts/
- 108 Aldi UK, 2023. 'Encouraging healthier food choices for customers'. Available at: https://www.aldi.co.uk/healthier-checkouts
- 109 Woolworths New Zealand, 2023. Energy drinks. Available at: https://www.

countdown.co.nz/community-environment/energy-drinks

- 110 Food Ingredients First, 2018. 'UK: Morrisons the latest to ban energy drink sales to under-16s.' Available at: https://www.foodingredientsfirst.com/ news/uk-morrisons-becomes-the-latest-supermarket-to-ban-sale-of-energy-drinks-to-under-16s.html
- 111 Co-Op UK, 2021. Health and Wellbeing at Co-Op 2021. Available at: https://assets.ctfassets.net/bffxiku554r1/33FMd5CLA4rNT4TQX3l5AR/ adae742057b8359292372028fdd2e5d9/ Health\_Wellbeing\_at\_the\_Co-op\_ April\_2021.pdf
- 112 Delhaize, 2020. 'Delhaize makes healthy foods more affordable with SuperPlus program.' Available at: https://www.aholddelhaize.com/en/ news/delhaize-makes-healthy-foodsmore-affordable-with-superplus-program/
- 113 Wm Morrison Supermarkets PLC, 2021. Sustainability Report 2020/2021. Available at: https://www.morrisons-corporate.com/globalassets/ corporatesite/corporate-responsibility/sustainability-report-2021/morrisons\_sr\_2021\_interactive-1.pdf
- 114 Food Matters Live, 2022. 'Tesco and Sainsbury's commit to HFSS food promotions ban despite Government delay'. Available at: https://foodmatterslive.com/article/tesco-sainsburys-hfss-food-promotions-ban-despite-government-delay/
- 115 Marks and Spencer, 2022. Marketing to children. Available at: https://corporate.marksandspencer.com/sustainability/our-products/responsible-marketing
- 116 Food Matters Live, 2022. 'Tesco and Sainsbury's commit to HFSS food promotions ban despite Government delay'. Available at: https://www.morrisons-corporate.com/globalassets/ corporatesite/corporate-responsibility/sustainability-report-2021/morrisons\_sr\_2021\_interactive-1.pdf
- 117 Woolworths Group, 2022. Sustainability Plan 2025. Available at: https:// www.woolworthsgroup.com.au/ content/dam/wwg/sustainability/documents/sustainability-plan/195860\_sustainability-plan-2025.pdf
- 118 World Health Organization, European region. Nutrient and promotion profile model: supporting appropriate promotion of food products for infants and young children 6–36 months in the WHO European Region. Available from: https://www.who.int/ europe/publications/i/item/WHO-EU-RO-2022-6681-46447-67287

- 119 Sainsbury's UK, 2022. Video: 'Helping Everyone eat Better.' Available at: https://www.youtube.com/ watch?v=9TO8i7W7dcl
- 120 Migros Ticaret (2023). 'I'm Growing Healthy with Migros'. Available at: https://migrostv.migros.com.tr/migros-ile-saglikli-buyuyorum
- 121 Steen DL, Helsley RN, Bhatt DL, King EC, Summer SS, Fenchel M, Saelens BE, Eckman MH, Couch SC. Efficacy of supermarket and web-based interventions for improving dietary quality: a randomized, controlled trial. Nat Med. 2022 Dec;28(12):2530-2536
- 122 World Health Organization, 2017. The International Code of Marketing of Breastmilk Substitutes: Frequently Asked Questions (2017 Update). Available at: https://apps.who.int/iris/ bitstream/handle/10665/254911/WHO-NMH-NHD-17.1-eng.pdf
- 123 World Health Organization, European region. Nutrient and promotion profile model: supporting appropriate promotion of food products for infants and young children 6–36 months in the WHO European Region. Available from: https://www.who.int/ europe/publications/i/item/WHO-EU-RO-2022-6681-46447-67287
- 124 The Food Foundation, 2022. The State of the Nation's Food Industry. Available at: https://foodfoundation.org.uk/ sites/default/files/2022-10/FF\_SofN-FI\_Report%202022\_0\_3.pdf
- 125 World Benchmarking Alliance, 2021. Food and Agriculture Benchmark. Available at: https://www.worldbenchmarkingalliance.org/food-and-agriculturebenchmark
- 126 Karupaiah T et al. Benchmarking Food Industry Commitments to Create a Healthier Food Environment: Business Impact Assessment (BIA)-Obesity Malaysia 2019. Malaysia: Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia; 2019.
- 127 Kasture A at al. Benchmarking the commitments related to population nutrition and obesity prevention of major food companies in New Zealand. Int J Public Health. 2019;64(8).
- 128 Sacks G at al. Benchmarking the Nutrition-Related Policies and Commitments of Major Food Companies in Australia, 2018. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020 Aug 22;17(17):6118. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17176118.
- 129 Woolworths, 2022. Sustainability Report. Available at: https://www. woolworthsgroup.com.au/content/ dam/wwg/investors/reports/2022/ full-year/Woolworths%20Group%20 Sustainability%20Report%202022%20 print%20friendly.pdf

- 130 Tesco, 2015. 'Sweets and chocolates removed from all checkouts from today'. Available at: https://www. tescoplc.com/news/2015/sweets-andchocolates-removed-from-all-checkouts-from-today/
- 131 Tesco, 2021. Sustainability Reporting Hub. Available at: https://www.tescoplc.com/sustainability/reporting-hub/
- 132 Access to Nutrition Initiative (ATNI), 2020. UK Supermarket Spotlight: A review of the 10 largest UK food retailers' disclosure on nutrition, diets and health. Available at: https://accesstonutrition.org/app/uploads/2020/03/ ATNI-UK-Supermarket-Spotlight-report-FINAL.pdf
- 133 Kesko Finland, 2020. 'K Group to introduce the first purchase data-based nutrition calculator in the Nordics.' Available at: https://www. kesko.fi/en/media/news-and-releases/ news/2020/k-group-to-introduce-thefirst-purchase-data-based-nutritionalcalculator-in-the-nordics
- 134 Migos Corporate, 2023. 'Sustainability: Our works'. Available at: https:// www.migroskurumsal.com/en/sustainability/our-works
- 135 Stewart E et al, 2022. The impact of a supermarket-based intervention using personalised loyalty card incentives to increase weekly purchasing of fruits and vegetables. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 81(OCE5), E183

© United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF)

June 2023

Permission is required to reproduce any part of this publication. Permissions will be freely granted to educational or non-profit organizations.

United Nations Children's Fund Nutrition and Child Development Section, Programme Group 3 United Nations Plaza New York, NY 10017 USA

Email: nutrition@unicef.org www.unicef.org/nutrition









